
NORTHUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
AGENDA

Monday, 5 February 2018 at 3.00 pm at the Gateshead Civic Centre

From the Clerk, Sheena Ramsey
Item Business

1.  Apologies 

2.  Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

The Panel is asked to approve the minutes of the last meeting held on 16 January 
2018 (attached).

3.  Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19-2021/22 (Pages 11 - 30)

Report of the PCC (attached).

4.  Proposed Precept 2018/19 (Pages 31 - 52)

Reports of the Clerk and PCC (attached).

5.  Themed Topics 

Members are asked to agree a themed topic for the Panel’s meeting on 24 April 
2018. The previously suggested themes are:-
 
Panel suggestions;
 
Report on Operation Sanctuary
Rural crime
 
PCC’s suggestions:
 
Early intervention and partnerships
Legislative changes for dealing with complaints against the Police
Number of out of Court disposals
 

6.  Date and Time of the Next Meeting 

Tuesday, 6 March 2018 at 2.00pm in Gateshead Civic Centre

Contact: Brian Wilson, Tel: 01914332145, E mail: brianwilson@gateshead.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:brianwilson@gateshead.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



NORTHUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

16 January 2018

PRESENT:

Gateshead Council Councillors A Douglas and J McClurey

Newcastle City Council Councillors A Ainsley and N Kemp

Northumberland County Council Councillor S Davey

South Tyneside Council Councillors G Kilgour and J Welsh

Independent Co-opted Members Mrs J Guy and Mr S Isaacson

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Northumbria

Dame V Baird QC - Police and Crime Commissioner for Northumbria (PCC)
R Durham - Interim Chief of Staff
M Tait - Chief Finance Officer
P Godden - Head of Corporate Development, Northumbria Police

Gateshead Council

D Hill - Legal and Democratic Services
B Wilson - Democratic Services

APOLOGIES: Councillors C Burdis and T Mulvenna (North Tyneside Council), 
J Riddle (Northumberland County Council) and H Trueman 
(Sunderland City Council)

29. COUNCILLOR PAUL WATSON

It was reported that Councillor Watson had sadly passed away on 7 November 
2017. The Chair had sent a letter of condolence to his wife and family, on behalf of 
the Panel and she summarised the letter she had received in response. 

RESOLVED - That the information be noted. 

30. CHIEF EXECUTIVE TO THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER

The Police and Crime Commissioner reported that her former Chief Executive 
Elaine Snaith had left her role in December 2017 and she had appointed Ruth 
Durham as Interim Chief of Staff.

      3

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



RESOLVED - That a letter of thanks for the commitment and support she has 
given to the Panel be sent to Elaine Snaith.

31. MINUTES

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the last meeting held on 24 October 2017 
be approved as a correct record.

32. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

Further to Minute 25(ii), the PCC circulated details of the stakeholders, etc that had 
been involved in the budget consultation process.

33. POLICE AND CRIME PANELS – CONSULTATION ON PROPOSALS FOR 
NATIONAL REPRESENTATION

Following concerns that the effectiveness and development of Police and Crime 
Panels have been restricted by the lack of a collective national voice, the Chair of 
Hertfordshire Police and Crime Panel, has co-ordinated discussions on the creation 
of a national representative body for Police and Crime Panels.The following three 
options have been suggested:-

(a) An independent national association.

(b) A special interest group within the Local Government Association.

(c) A combination whereby option (b) was considered as a stepping stone to option 
(a).

At the Police and Crime Panels national conference on 6 November 2017, attended 
by Councillors Kilgour and Welsh, the proposals for the creation of a National Police 
and Crime Panel special interest group within the Local Government Association 
and the setting up of a steering group to developing this further were agreed. 
Councillor Welsh volunteered to be part of the steering group.

A virtual forum of volunteers in which key points are established and discussed via 
e mail has been established and it is proposed that a meeting of all Police and 
Crime Panels to agree and finalise, on a one vote per panel basis, the details for a 
National Police and Crime Panel special interest group within the Local Government 
Association, including terms of reference, etc, be held in February/March 2018.

RESOLVED - (i) That the report be noted.

(ii) That Councillor Welsh represent the Panel on the virtual 
forum.

(iii) That further reports be submitted as appropriate.

34. FEEDBACK FROM NATIONAL AND REGIONAL EVENTS

Councillor Welsh reported that she had represented her Council at an interesting 
Westminster briefing on the new Government’s plans for community safety and 
policing at which Northumbria’s Police and Crime Commissioner was a speaker.

Page 4



Councillors Kilgour and Welsh had represented the Panel at the Police and Crime 
Panels national conference on 6 November 2017. The conference had been very 
useful and it had highlighted how this Panel and Police and Crime Commissioner 
have a good working relationship which did not appear to be the same in other 
areas.   

RESOLVED – That the information be noted.

35. HOME OFFICE PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON COMPLAINTS ABOUT POLICE 
AND CRIME COMMISSIONERS

The Home Office’s report on the summary of the responses received to its public 
consultation, undertaken in December 2015, on complaints about Police and Crime 
Commissioners (PCCs) and the next steps the Government proposes to take to 
change the system for non-serious complaints was presented.

The Panel considered the consultation document on 8 March 2016 (Minute 5) and 
an online response was submitted on its behalf. The PCC also submitted a 
response. 

The changes to the complaints system for non-serious complaints made against a 
PCC that the Government intends to introduce were outlined in the document’s 
executive summary.

RESOLVED - That the report be noted and further reports 
be submitted as appropriate.

36. COMPLAINTS AGAINST THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER – 
QUARTERLY REPORT TO DECEMBER 2017

In accordance with the agreed procedure, an update report about the complaints 
and purported complaints against the PCC and every conduct matter recorded by 
the Monitoring Officer for the quarter ended December 2017 was submitted. 

RESOLVED - (i) That the information be noted.

(ii) That the arrangements for dealing with complaints 
against the Police and Crime Commissioner be 
undertaken by the PCC’s Interim Chief of Staff through 
delegated powers under the Elected Local Policing 
Bodies (Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2012.

37. THEMED REPORT – COMBATING CYBER-CRIME

Further to minute 27(i) – 2017/18, Detective Superintendent Barton gave a 
presentation on the Northumbria Police response to cyber-crime in line with the 
2013 HM Government Serious and Organised Crime Strategy strands of Protect, 
Prevent, Prepare and Pursue. This provides for a structured approach to crime 
prevention, diversion of potential offenders, readiness/capability and bring offenders 
to justice.

Page 5



The North East Regional Specialist Operations Unit has recently recruited a 
dedicated team to co-ordinate cyber protect and prevent work across the 3-force 
region and Northumbria Police has excellent connectivity with that team.

Protect - is crime prevention and this work is vitally important as bringing offenders 
to justice in a traditional policing context is not always possible due to the scale and 
nature of the criminality. 

Prevent - is centred upon identifying those individuals who are at risk of being 
drawn into cyber-crime and engaging with them to divert them accordingly.

Prepare - is about ensuring that that there is the necessary capabilities to respond 
to cyber-crime incidents and to provide those affected with effective criminal justice 
and victim support.

Pursue - is concerned with the arrest, detection and prosecution of those 
committing cyber-crime and within those investigations ensuring that any identified 
victims are safeguarded.

The Panel raised the following issues:-

Concern was raised regarding cyber-crime and teaching children how to be safe on 
the internet. The force Special Branch do a lot of work in schools etc as part of the 
prevent strand of the strategy to raise their awareness to make them safe and 
secure online. It was also suggested that parents should be involved to take more 
responsibility by activating parental controls, etc. The force is working with the 
Northumbria University on how to get this information to everyone and a parent 
pack to be used at parents’ evenings and through the neighbourhood teams was 
being looked at. There was also advice available to the public on the get safe online 
website

It was asked when the cyber business breakfasts were to be held as Councils may 
be able to help in advertising them. Details were to be provided to the Members of 
the Panel.

The pilot in Sunderland to develop an improved approach to tackling cyber stalking 
and harassment once evaluated will be rolled out to other areas to try and embed 
the lessons learnt into normal policing.

It was asked if new hardware, etc could be developed to stop cyber-crime. There 
are companies doing this but those committing cyber-crime are continually looking 
to get around new systems and technology.

The force deserved credit for all the work it has done to combat cyber-crime. 
Businesses need to be made aware of the threats they could face and how to work 
to prevent them. Communication and education were very important in tackling 
cyber-crime.

It was suggested that devices should by default be made child safe so that settings 
would have to be changed to disable this.

RESOLVED - That the presentation be noted.
 

Page 6



38.  DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

The draft Annual Report 2016/17 of the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Northumbria was presented. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
specifies that a PCC must produce an annual report on the exercise of their 
functions in each financial year, including the progress made in meeting the 
priorities in the Police and Crime Plan. 

It is the role of the Panel under section 28(4) of the Act to review the Annual Report 
and make a report or recommendations to the PCC.

The Annual Report includes an overview of the PCC’s activities and achievements 
since 1 April 2016 and a full break down of year end performance summary has 
been considered by the Panel (Minute 54 – 2016/17).

The PCC’s 2013-18 Police and Crime Plan, published in March 2013, provides the 
focus for the annual report. The new Police and Crime Plan 2017-21 was launched 
in April 2017 following extensive consultation.

The annual report will be available on the PCC’s website and hard copies will be 
shared with Panel Members and key stakeholders.

Panel Members made the following suggestions for the Annual Report:-

It was suggested that Northumbria having the lowest precept of any PCC should be 
explained more on page 19.

In regard to the inspection grading - requires improvement on pages 23 and 24, it 
should be highlighted that action plans were in place and were being monitored.

RESOLVED - That the PCC be advised that in accordance with section 28(4) 
of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the 
Panel agreed with the format and content of the draft annual 
report 2016/17, subject to the suggestions outlined above.

39. POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER – PROGRESS AND UPDATE REPORT

The Police and Crime Commissioner presented her update report to the Panel 
which covered the following:-

Supporting Victims Fund 2018-19
National funding
Local funding
Purpose of the fund
Grant themes and funding priorities for 2018/19
Shaping the National Victim Strategy
The North East Race Equality Forum
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS)
PEEL Efficiency (including Leadership) – 2017 – overall judgement – GOOD
PEEL Legitimacy (including Leadership) – 2017 – overall judgement – GOOD
HMICFRS progress report on the police response to Domestic Abuse

Page 7



HMICFRS Report – Stolen Freedom; the policing response to modern slavery and 
human trafficking
Bringing police officers closer to the communities they serve
Christmas 2017 Campaign – ‘Equip your kids’ – with cyber sense before they log on 
to their devices this Christmas
National Trading Standards - Scambassador

The Panel raised the following issues:-

Disability is one of the categories of hate crime. This is currently increasing and will 
be monitored.  The biggest numerical increase in hate crime was following the 
recent European referendum. 

It was asked if there were more examples of the PCC’s programme to make police 
officers accessible and close to the community they serve in all areas since she 
took office. The PCC replied that the opening police bases in the community had 
been undertaken as part of a detailed estates strategy.

It was queried how the PCC becoming a Member of Tyne and Wear Fire and 
Rescue Authority and the Northumberland Fire and Rescue Service would affect the 
Panel’s role of scrutinising the PCC and holding her to account. There was concern 
that there may be duplication with the scrutiny role of the Fire Authorities which also 
included Local Authority appointed Members.

RESOLVED - (i) That the Police and Crime Commissioner’s update 
report be noted.

(ii) That the Local Government Association be asked if 
there was any guidance on the Panel’s role of 
scrutinising the PCC and holding her to account 
following her appointments on the above Fire and 
Rescue Authority and Service.

40. DELIVERY OF THE POLICE AND CRIME PLAN – APRIL – DECEMBER 2017: 
TARGETS AND PERFORMANCE

Paul Godden gave a presentation on the performance and target information 
relating to the delivery of the police and crime plan for April - December 2017.

The Panel raised the following issues:-

Concern was expressed that the neighbourhood team officers were being pulled out 
of their areas to attend incidents because of the urgent demand on 24/7 officers. It 
was replied that a review of how to better use and target resources to allow 
neighbourhood teams more time to work in their areas was being undertaken.

It was asked how long it would be before the call handling long term performance 
action plans would lead to a real improvement and was the PCC satisfied that the 
plans will work? The PCC replied that she was to scrutinise the call handling plans 
next month.

Satisfaction in regard to resolution without deployment was decreasing but it would 
increase costs if more deployments had to then be made. The PCC stated that it 

Page 8



may be because people were worried that the police were not taking their crime 
reports seriously enough. The standards and requirements for communicating 
effectively with the public involved were to be reinforced.

It was asked if the PCC was looking at the number of repeat anti-social behaviour 
victims which, although they had reduced by 30% during the period, were still higher 
than the comparative period. The PCC replied that the scrutiny panel was looking at 
this and improvements were planned.

Reference was made to the decrease from 91.9% to 82.4% in the victims of hate 
crime whole experience satisfaction measure. An internal inspection review report 
on the force’s response to victims was being undertaken.

It was commented that there was also good local feedback on the work done by the 
police.
  
RESOLVED - (i) That the information be noted.

(ii) That the PCC update the Panel following her scrutiny of 
the call handling plans next month.

(iii) That an update on the force’s future response to victims
following the internal inspection review be submitted.

41. POLICE GRANT SETTLEMENT 2018/19 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY 2018/19-2021/22

The Chief Finance Officer gave a presentation on the police grant settlement 
2018/19 and medium term financial strategy 2018/19-2021/22 which included: 
headlines, provisional settlement written ministerial statement, what it means, 
central funds, threats and pressures, capital, precept considerations and next steps.

RESOLVED - That the information be noted.

42. KEY ISSUES IN THE NEXT QUARTER

The PCC advised the Panel of the following key issues she would be addressing in 
the next quarter:-

 Precept and budget setting and the medium term financial strategy
 Appointing a Chief Constable – the post was to be re-advertised with a 

closing date of 15 February 2018 and a stakeholders’ panel was to be 
arranged before the interviews are held on 2 March 2018.

 Awarding the Supporting Victims Fund and launching the Commissioner 
Community Fund

 Expanding the Volunteers Strategy
 Violence against Women and Girls Strategy – 6 force strategy
 Lobbying and influencing the Domestic Violence Bill and the Ministry of 

Justice Victims Strategy, the Stalking Protection Bill and to respond to 
parliamentary inquiry as appropriate 

RESOLVED - That the information be noted.

Page 9



43. THEMED TOPICS

The Panel considered the suggested themed topic for the meeting on 6 March 
2018.

RESOLVED - That the accuracy of the crime figures, the causes of crime, the 
reasons for the increases in crime and volume crime and how 
this was being managed in Northumbria with reduced budget 
be agreed as the themed topic for its meeting on 6 March 2018.

44. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

Monday, 5 February 2018 at 3.00pm

Page 10



Police & Crime 
Commissioner for 

Northumbria

MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY

2018/19 – 2021/22

                                                             

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



2

Police & Crime Commissioner for Northumbria

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 – 2021/22

Contents

1. Purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.........................................................3

2. Benefits of the Strategy................................................................................................3

3. Principles of the Strategy .............................................................................................4

4. Reviewing the Strategy ................................................................................................4

5. Operational Context .....................................................................................................5

6. Financial Context .........................................................................................................6

7. Current 2017/18 Financial Position ............................................................................12

8. Medium Term Budget Pressures ...............................................................................13

9. Medium Term Savings Proposals ..............................................................................13

10. Capital Estimates and Financing................................................................................14

11. Reserves ....................................................................................................................15

12. Indicative Budget Forecasts 2018/19 to 2021/22.......................................................17

13. Risk Assessment........................................................................................................18

14. Conclusion .................................................................................................................20

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



3

1. Purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy

1.1 This is the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Northumbria (the Commissioner).  It covers a period of four 
years but will be reviewed annually to reflect the dynamic nature of both 
policing and changes in funding. It describes the financial direction of the 
organisation and outlines financial pressures. 

1.2 The MTFS provides options for delivering a sustainable budget and capital 
programme over the medium term.  It also sets out how the Commissioner can 
provide the Chief Constable with the resources to deliver the priorities in the 
Police & Crime Plan within a challenging financial climate.

1.3 The MTFS sets the financial context for the Commissioner’s revenue budget, 
capital programme and precepting decisions.

1.4 The overall financial strategy seeks to deliver the Commissioner’s Police and 
Crime Plan, support ‘Proud to Protect’, the mission, vision and values of 
Northumbria Police and meet the requirements of the National Strategic 
Policing Requirement. 

2. Benefits of the Strategy

2.1 The MTFS assists in:

 Supporting delivery of the Police & Crime Plan.

 Improving financial planning and the financial management of the 
Commissioner’s resources, both revenue and capital.

 Maximising the use of resources available to the Commissioner and 
Chief Constable, both internal and external.

 Ensuring that the Commissioner and Chief Constable provide value for 
money and continue to deliver efficiency gains.

 Allowing the development of longer term budgets and strategic 
thinking.

 Reviewing the Commissioner’s policy on the use of reserves, ensuring 
the position continues to be sustainable and there are sufficient 
resources over the medium term.

 Responding to external pressures, including changes to the police 
funding formula and funding reductions.

 Developing a sustainable budget over the medium term.

Page 13



4

3. Principles of the Strategy

3.1 The key principles underlying the Commissioner’s MTFS 2018/19 – 2021/22 
are:

(i) Overall expenditure of the Commissioner will be contained within 
original estimates each year.

(ii) The Commissioner will maintain a General Reserve of a minimum of 
2% of the net revenue budget to cover any major unforeseen 
expenditure or loss of funding.  A flexible approach will be taken to the 
use of reserve balances above this level where appropriate, balancing 
the opportunity costs of maintaining reserves against the benefits of 
alternative approaches.

(iii) The Commissioner will maintain earmarked reserves for specific 
purposes only when appropriate, and which are consistent with 
achieving objectives.

(iv) The Commissioner will continue to prioritise the achievement of Value 
for Money, securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
resources; in establishing the framework for policing within Northumbria 
and; in commissioning and procurement decisions. 

(v) The Joint Chief Finance Officer and Chief Constable will prepare a 
rolling programme of four year budget forecasts to inform the 
Commissioner’s budget and precepting decisions.

(vi) The Commissioner, supported by the Joint Chief Finance Officer and 
Chief Constable, will continue to contribute to national reviews of police 
funding and take every opportunity to engage in order to pursue the fair 
and equitable funding of Northumbria Police.

4. Reviewing the Strategy
 
4.1 The Commissioner’s MTFS review for 2018/19 to 2021/22 has been carried 

out under the following key themes:

 The financial context in which the Commissioner operates.

 The Commissioner’s current financial position.

 The future budget pressures and funding cuts which the Commissioner 
will face over the period of the strategy.

 Budget savings.

 The Commissioner’s capital programme.

 Reserves policy.

Page 14



5

5. Operational Context

5.1 The successful delivery of the Strategy requires the Chief Constable to 
manage a complex set of resources, demands and priorities whilst reviewing 
and revising plans to meet changing demand for policing services within the 
available financial resources.

5.2 HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 
Services) considers that a Force is efficient if it is making the best use of its 
resources to provide policing services that meet expectation and follow public 
priorities, and if it is planning and investing wisely for the future.

5.3 In the most recent HMICFRS PEEL inspection report ‘Police Efficiency 
(including leadership) 2017 An Inspection of Northumbria Police’, Northumbria 
was assessed as GOOD in respect of the efficiency with which it keeps people 
safe and reduces crime.  The overall summary includes a number of key 
findings, and concludes that Northumbria:

 Has a comprehensive and up-to-date model to assess demand, and it 
understands the wider effects of that demand for the services that it 
provides.

 Has excellent administrative processes and a good governance 
structure, which enable it to manage projects well.

 Has created a very positive culture of openness, the workforce feels a 
part of the decision making process within the organisation.

 Is making great efforts to develop its future leaders.

 Has extensive arrangements for collaborative working across many of 
its areas of work.

 Has detailed and solid financial plans for the future that have been 
tested and examined independently to ensure they are fit for purpose.

5.4 Police Forces have finite resources with which to do an increasingly 
complicated job, and therefore must ensure that they deploy and use their 
resources in the best way possible.  It is important that Forces make 
sophisticated decisions about how to spend and invest their resources in order 
to achieve the best value for the public.

5.5 Policing has changed significantly in recent years and demand on police 
resources is considerable, growing, and ever changing. Online and cyber-
crime are increasing and there is an emergence of complex and harmful 
crimes such as child sexual exploitation and human trafficking.  Incidents 
involving people with mental health problems are increasing. More victims are 
reporting rape and domestic violence. In addition, Forces have had to assist in 
the national response to terrorism and respond locally to the increased threat 
level in order to provide protection and reassurance to the communities whom 
we serve.

5.6 The change in demand for police services has required a different approach to 
policing, working closely with partner agencies such as Fire and Rescue 

Page 15



6

Services, Local Authorities, academic institutions, NHS and the Ambulance 
Service, to tackle demand and achieve common aims and objectives.

5.7 The Force prioritises demand through an analysis of threat, harm and risk, 
assessing the types of crimes which most threaten communities, as well as 
the Force’s current capability to respond effectively.

5.8 Northumbria reviewed its priorities during 2017, based on a full assessment of 
demand and the threat, risk and harm analysis.  As well as taking into 
consideration the views of the public gained from surveys, road shows and 
online communication.  The six main priorities are identified in the 
Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan 2017 - 2021:

 Domestic and sexual abuse.

 Putting victims first.

 Effective criminal justice system.

 Reducing anti-social behavior.

 Cutting crime.

 Community confidence.

5.9 Northumbria has a systematic and structured approach to understanding its 
demand and is also working hard to be able to predict future demand and 
respond accordingly.  The Force considers the public’s expectations when 
designing future services and plans to make the most of the opportunities 
which changes in technology present.  The MTFS includes significant 
investment in communications and technology development over the 4 year 
period.

5.10 The Commissioner’s MTFS is underpinned by a workforce plan and capital 
programmes which are aligned with the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan 
priorities and the continued delivery of an efficient and effective police service 
to the communities of Northumbria.

6. Financial Context

6.1 The last 8 years have seen unprecedented cuts to the funding provided by the 
Government to Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) in England and 
Wales.  Northumbria has had to make £135.6m of cuts and efficiencies to 
manage the reductions imposed by government over that period.  In addition, 
it has also had its ability to raise additional tax revenue from the precept 
restricted by the excessiveness rules and a climate of Council Tax freeze 
grant incentives. 

6.2 Northumbria has taken the biggest financial cut of all Forces in England and 
Wales through both the 2010 and 2015 Comprehensive Spending Review 
(CSR) periods.  Central Government formula funding for policing in 
Northumbria has been reduced by 37% in real terms since 2010.

6.3 The Forces most affected by funding reductions are those with a higher 
percentage of total funding coming from central government.  Northumbria 

Page 16



7

experienced the largest impact of cuts because it receives more in grant in 
proportion to its Council Tax; around 86% is grant for 17/18.  In addition, 
Northumbria has the lowest precept of any PCC in England and Wales and a 
low yield too.

6.4 For Northumbria employee pay accounts for the majority of the annual 
revenue budget and therefore the savings delivered to date have been mainly 
realised through reductions to the workforce (March 2010 to March 2017):

 Police Officer numbers have reduced by 904 FTE, from 4,187FTE to 
3,283 FTE, a reduction of 22%.

 PCSO numbers have reduced by 244 FTE, from 438 FTE to 194 FTE, 
a reduction of 56%.

 Police Staff numbers have reduced by 679 FTE, from 2,096 FTE to 
1,417 FTE, a reduction of 32%.

 Overall reduction of 1,823 FTE, over 27%.

6.5 The financial reserves have played a key part in the strategy to balance costs 
with available funding since 2010, giving much needed head room to establish 
strategies and implement change.  General reserves have reduced from 
£71.0m in 2010 to an estimated £9.1m by March 2018, a reduction of 87% 
over that period.  The use of reserves is not a sustainable option going forward 
as balances are fast approaching minimum levels, beyond which our financial 
resilience and ability to respond to unexpected pressures will be severely 
limited.

6.6 The recent rhetoric used by government to present the current financial 
climate and position of police Forces nationally, of funding protection and 
plentiful reserves is a position that Northumbria simply do not recognise.  In 
Northumbria the use of reserves has mitigated the scale of government 
funding cuts in each year since 2010 and we continue to do so in 2017/18.  
The recent survey by the Police and Crime Commissioners Treasurers Society 
(PACCTS) technical support team clearly demonstrates this, in 2017 
Northumbria hold the lowest levels of all Forces in the country, of both 
earmarked and general reserves (as % of Net Revenue Expenditure).

6.7 Despite cutting its workforce by more than 27%, making efficiencies, 
transforming business areas through investment in technology, cutting waste, 
selling property and consolidating its Area Commands from six to three, 
Northumbria still needs to reduce expenditure further to match spend with 
financial resources. 

6.8 We need to maintain our pace, continue our Force Improvement Programme 
(FIP), explore further collaboration and continue our reform in order to align 
our spend.  All of this will need to take place as we constantly review and 
redeploy resources to meet the ever changing nature of demand for policing 
services and continue to protect our local communities.  We will invest in 
extending cyber-crime capabilities, providing support to victims of crime, 
protecting the most vulnerable members of our communities, preventing child 
sexual exploitation and modern day slavery, developing anti-terrorism and 
firearms capabilities. 

Page 17



8

Formula Review

6.9 The Home Office failed to implement its proposed new funding formula for 
2016/17 after a fundamental error was found in the data it was using for its 
calculations. During 2016 the Government re-launched its review of the Police 
funding formula which continued into 2017.

6.10 In the 2018/19 settlement announcement on 19 December 2017 the Minister 
for Policing and the Fire Service expressed gratitude for the work of the Core 
Grant Distribution Review. The Minister further clarified that, in the context of 
changing demand and in order to prioritise funding certainty for 2018/19 the 
formula review will now be revisited at the next Spending Review. Therefore 
there is no change anticipated to the formula used to distribute core grant 
funding in 2018/19 or 2019/20.

Spending Review and Police Settlement

6.11 The Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) 2015 set out indicative spending 
settlements for each government department up to 2019/20.  Overall police 
funding was to be cut by 1.3% in real terms over four years.

6.12 The Government further stated that taking into account the scope that Police 
and Crime Commissioners have to raise local Council Tax this would mean a 
flat real settlement for policing as a whole. 

6.13 However, the financial impact for each Force was a reduction in formula grant 
of 2% over 2016/17 (0.6%) and 2017/18 (1.4%).  Police and Crime 
Commissioners were required by government to increase Council Tax locally 
to recover this loss and protect funding in flat cash terms.  This represented a 
significant real terms cut to overall funding, with no provision to meet inflation 
and other year-on-year cost pressures.

6.14 The 2018/19 Provisional Police Settlement was announced in a written 
ministerial statement on 19 December 2017.  It covered just one year and 
confirmed:

Key Points:
 Flat cash settlement for Police Formula Grant – the 2018/19 grant from 

central government will be maintained in flat cash terms against 
2017/18.

 Council Tax Referendum Limits - ALL Police and Crime 
Commissioners have been granted the flexibility to increase the 
precept by £12 per Band D property.

 The Government has calculated that each PCC who uses this flexibility 
will be able to increase their direct resource funding by at least 1.6%, 
which maintains total funding (central grant plus Council Tax Precept) 
in real terms.

 Legacy grants relating to Council Tax and freeze grants retained and 
payable but there will be no new Council Tax freeze grant offered for 
2018/19.

Page 18



9

 Police capital grant maintained in flat cash terms.

 The Government intends to maintain the protection of a broadly flat 
police grant in 2019/20 and repeat the same precept flexibility. 
However, this commitment is conditional and requires the police to 
deliver clear and substantial progress against productivity and 
efficiency milestones, yet to be determined.

Top-slice and Reallocations:
 Transformation Fund maintained at £175m.

 Investment in Regional Organised Crime Unit (ROCU) capabilities 
£40m, including PTF funded capabilities.

 Counter Terrorism funding increased by £50m to £757m (including 
£29m armed uplift).

 Police Special Grant increased by £43m to £93m.

 Police technology – national infrastructure projects increased by £87m 
to £495m (includes: Emergency Services Network, Biometrics, and the 
National Law Enforcement Data Service).

6.15 The final settlement is due to be confirmed early February 2018 and, as in 
previous years, is unlikely to include any changes.  This MTFS is therefore 
prepared on the assumptions as laid out in the provisional settlement.

6.16 For Northumbria the implications of the 2018/19 settlement are as follows:

 Home Office formula grant £214.5m maintained in cash terms against 
2017/18 – a real terms reduction in central government funding.

 No change to legacy grants £8.2m.

 Option to protect ‘spending power’ in real terms with a £12 increase to 
the precept.

 Capital grant £1.3m maintained in cash terms against 2017/18.

Council Tax

6.17 Since 2007/08, Council Tax increases nationally have been restricted by the 
Government’s capping and Council Tax excessiveness principles.  Nationally 
the proportion of grant funding from central government has reduced, and the 
proportion from Council Tax has increased.  However Northumbria’s Council 
Tax Precept is by far the lowest of policing bodies in the country at £98.33 per 
year (2017/18) for Band D properties.  The following table shows the highest 
and lowest PCC precepts, Northumbria’s MSG (most similar group) and the 
average PCC precept for England and Wales in 2017/18:

Page 19



10

6.18 For Northumbria Police income from the Council Tax Precept equates to only 
14% of total funding in 17/18.  The schedule below sets out the level of Band 
D Council Tax over the last 5 years: 

Year Precept (Band D)
2017/18 £98.33
2016/17 £93.33
2015/16 £88.33
2014/15 £86.61
2013/14 £86.61

6.19 The Localism Act 2011 introduced a power for the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government to issue principles that define what 
should be considered excessive Council Tax, including proposed limits.  From 
2013 onwards, any billing or major precepting body that wishes to raise its 
Council Tax above the limits that apply to them will have to hold a referendum.

6.20 The precept excessiveness rules for 2018/19 have provided each PCC with 
the flexibility to increase the precept by £12.

  
6.21 This MTFS as presented includes the assumption that the excessiveness 

rules permit a precept increase of £12 for each PCC in both 2018/19 and 
2019/20.  The assumption regarding future years 2020/21 to 2021/22 is that 
this limit is reduced to £5 for Northumbria in line with the limit set for previous 
years in 2016/17 and 2017/18.  The MTFS further assumes that the precept is 
increased to the maximum permitted each year, in line with the Governments 
approach to protecting spending power over the CSR period.  

Page 20



11

6.22 The use of the precept flexibility increase to £12 in 2019/20 is conditional on 
yet to be determined productivity and efficiency targets.  Therefore, although 
the MTFS for planning purposes is based upon the maximum increase in both 
2018/19 and 2019/20, the increase in 2019/20 will be subject to further 
consultation with taxpayers. 

6.23 The MTFS also includes the following legacy grants relating to the freeze in 
the precept (2011/12 and 2014/15) and the localisation of Council Tax support 
schemes in addition to the constituent authorities’ net surplus on collection 
funds:

 Home Office Legacy Council Tax Freeze Grants totalling £1.301m.

 Localised Council Tax Support Grant £6.867m.

 Collection fund surplus £0.899m in total.

Police Transformation Fund

6.24 The Police Transformation Fund (PTF) nationally remains at £175m for 
2018/19 in line with the previous year.

6.25 The Police and Crime Commissioner has been successful in securing 
significant investment through grant funding from within these national funds:

 2015/16 – £2.618m

 2016/17 – £4.623m

 2017/18 – £3.432m

 2018/19 – £3.755m

6.26 Projects funded through national funds have focused on tackling domestic 
abuse; preventing serial perpetrator offending; improving victim safety and 
confidence; multi-agency work to tackle Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), 
vulnerability and modern day slavery; safeguarding of serial victims; 
Safetyworks! and other projects which aim to protect victims and support the 
most vulnerable.

6.27 The Commissioner will continue to maximise all opportunities to secure 
funding from within the Police Transformation Fund during 2018/19 and across 
future years.

Ministry of Justice Grant

6.28 The Ministry of Justice (MOJ) allocates a grant to the Commissioner each year 
for local commissioning of Victims Support Services.  The grant is allocated 
between Police and Crime Commissioners on the basis of population.  A total 
of £1.685m was allocated to the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Northumbria for 2017/18.  For 2018/19 the allocation is slightly lower at 
£1.679m.

6.29 The MOJ grant is held outside of the police General Fund and the 
Commissioner makes decisions on the commissioning of services on an 

Page 21



12

annual basis, within the grant funding available.  The commissioning of victim 
services therefore has no impact on Force budgets.

7. Current 2017/18 Financial Position

7.1 The Commissioner’s net revenue budget for 2017/18 is £262.543m.  The 
Quarter 3 revenue monitoring report shows a projected budget deficit of 
£1.179m as at 31 December 2017.

7.2 The overall Group forecast represents an overspend of £1.179m.  This 
overspend is primarily due to costs incurred in relation to the Northumbria 
response to the increased counter terrorism threat level in 2017, and pay 
settlements being in excess of the budgeted 1%.

7.3 Capital financing savings on interest costs have been achieved in-year mainly 
due to a reduction in planned capital spend and continued beneficial market 
rates.

7.4 The estimated budget deficit will result in an additional transfer from the 
Commissioner’s general reserve in 2017/18:

 

Page 22



13

8. Medium Term Budget Pressures

8.1 When calculating the medium term budget projections consideration has been 
given to a number of budget pressures including:

i. Pay and price increases.
ii. Budget pressures.
iii. Revenue implications of the capital programme.
iv. Other. 

Pay and price increases

8.2 Inflation - Indicative budget forecasts for 2018/19 to 2021/22 reflect a positive 
approach to managing the impact of inflation on budgets wherever possible, in 
that there have been no automatic budget increases for inflationary pressures.    
Inflation provision has been included to meet energy, business rates and rent 
increases along with contract increases.  In addition, estimates for future pay 
awards at 2% have been included and CPI linked inflation on Injury Pensions.   
The total cost increase is estimated at £4.3m per annum.

8.3 Other pay and price - The MTFS also provides for the annual cost of officer 
pay progression under police regulations, contract increases for insurance and 
the National Police Air Service (NPAS), custody healthcare and interpreters.

Revenue implications of the capital programme

8.4 A revised four year capital programme has been produced, which is 
summarised in Section 10.  The implications of this programme are fully 
reflected in the MTFS.

9. Medium Term Savings Proposals

9.1 As discussed previously, there has been a period of sustained financial 
pressure throughout the previous CSR, the impact of which will continue to 
impact on the early years of this new MTFS.

9.2 Throughout the MTFS period savings will continue to be delivered wherever 
possible, for example:

 Continued rationalisation of the operational estate, including 
maximising collaborative opportunities.

 Workforce plan which manages reductions whilst aligning resources 
with changing demand.

 Non pay savings through centralised budget management.

 Savings through procurement particularly within ICT and Estates.

 Maximising income generation wherever possible, notwithstanding 
such opportunities being limited within the Police world.

9.3 Employee pay costs for Police Officers, Police Staff and CSOs represent a 
significant proportion of our annual budget requirement, and therefore there 

Page 23



14

will continue to be changes required to workforce numbers and structures 
within the early years of the MTFS period.

10. Capital Estimates and Financing
 
10.1 The following table provides a summary of the 4 year capital programme:

10.2 Key areas to note in the proposed programme are: 

 Building Schemes - Estates refurbishment programme based on 
operational requirements, transition and relocation costs associated 
with the estates rationalisation programme and co-location with partner 
agencies.

 Information Technology - the Force have a number of Improvement 
Schemes to deliver change and efficiency through transformation, 
which include considerable investment in IT systems across a number 
of policing areas.  The estimates include a significant level of 
investment for: the implementation of the National Emergency Services 
Network (ESN) within Northumbria; the Operational Platform 
Implementation Project; Network Refresh; system upgrades and 
infrastructure changes.

 Vehicles and Equipment - a rolling programme of vehicle 
replacement and material programmes for upgrading equipment 
including body-worn video.

Capital Financing

Page 24



15

10.3 The capital financing approach remains to maximise the use of Capital 
Receipts to support the Capital Programme after the use of grant and also to 
maximise overall benefit through minimising impact on the revenue budget.

10.4 Through this MTFS it is proposed that the majority of capital spending for short 
life assets will be financed from capital receipts.  Building works with longer 
asset lives will be supported by prudential borrowing as this provides the most 
efficient form of financing.

11. Reserves 

Background information on Reserves

11.1 Sections 32 and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require billing 
and precepting authorities in England and Wales to have regard to the level of 
reserves needed for meeting estimated future expenditure when preparing 
budgets.

11.2 In establishing reserves, the Commissioner must comply with the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).   
The Chief Finance Officer is required as part of the budget setting process to 
provide a statement on the adequacy of reserves.

11.3 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance on 
Reserves and Balances (LAAP Bulletin No 77 November 2008) and the 
requirements of the Code suggests twice yearly reviews of reserves.  By doing 
this, the visibility of reserves are increased and consideration of their use is 
placed at the forefront of the decision making process.  Reserves are cash 
backed balances, held on the balance sheet until they are spent or released 
for other purposes.  As such, they can only be spent once, and are not part of 
the base budget.

11.4 The Commissioner’s balance sheet reserves are summarised as follows:

 General Reserves - a contingency for unexpected events or 
emergencies and a working balance to help cushion the impact of 
uneven cash flows and avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing.

 Earmarked Reserves - to meet known or predicted liabilities, for 
example workforce management, insurance and capital development 
reserves.

11.5 CIPFA guidance issued in June 2003 confirms that relevant bodies should 
make their own judgements on such matters, taking into account relevant local 
circumstances and an assessment of risk and the advice of the Chief Finance 
Officer.

Reserves

11.6 The Commissioner must retain adequate reserves so that unexpected budget 
pressures can be met without adverse impact on the achievement of key 
objectives and Council Tax payers.  The Commissioner’s policy for reserves 

Page 25



16

and balances is based on a thorough understanding of the organisation’s 
needs and risks.  Part of this process is to give a clear explanation of the 
existing and proposed use of reserves and this is addressed in the 
paragraphs below.

General Reserve

11.7 The expected General Reserve at 1 April 2018 is £9.1m equating to 3.5% of 
the revenue budget.  This meets one of the key MTFS principles to seek to 
maintain the General Reserve at a minimum of 2.0% of the net revenue 
budget.  The closing General Reserves at 31 March 2022 are estimated to be 
£8.2m equating to 3.0% of the net revenue budget.

Earmarked Reserves 

11.8 The following reserves have been set aside for specific purposes.  The table 
shows the strategy for use of reserves over the MTFS.

Insurance Reserve

11.9 The Insurance Reserve is maintained for potential liabilities and costs which 
fall onto the Commissioner where no external insurance cover is arranged by 
or available to the Commissioner.  Potential liabilities include storm damage, 
business interruption and claims that would fall within the Commissioner’s 
policy excess limits.  The level of this reserve is £3.0m and it is not anticipated 
that this will change over the period of the MTFS.

Workforce Development Reserve

11.10 The Workforce Development Reserve was set up to manage the costs 
associated with workforce change and was used over the last CSR to manage 
the workforce reductions required over that period.  The reserve has an 
estimated balance of £0.3m as at 31 March 2018.  The MTFS includes a 
further transfer to the workforce reserve of £1.0m in 2018/19 from the General 
Reserve.  This will provide additional resilience to manage essential workforce 
change over 2018/19 and 2019/20.

Page 26



17

External Funding Reserve

11.11 The External Funding Reserve represents timing differences between income 
and expenditure in relation to non-conditional revenue grant income which is 
to be used for specific purposes.  The estimated reserve balance as at 31 
March 2018 is expected to be fully used in 2018/19.

12. Indicative Budget Forecasts 2018/19 to 2021/22
 
 12.1 All the budget pressures, budget savings, funding assumptions and proposed 

use of reserves outlined earlier in this Strategy are summarised below, to 
show an overall position for the Group representing the combined budget 
forecasts for the Commissioner and Chief Constable.  Having considered the 
savings proposals and the availability of reserves to support the MTFS an 
important consideration is the precept proposal for 2018/19.  The MTFS 
includes a precept increase of £12 built into the funding from 2018/19 going 
forward, and future increases as set out earlier in this report at section 6.21.

The group budget forecast position is set out in the following table:

12.2 The Group forecast budget set out above shows how after the planned use of 
reserves, savings and the precept there is no funding gap for the period of the 
MTFS, which meets the key principle of the Commissioner’s Strategy that 
overall expenditure will be delivered within a sustainable budget over the 
medium term.

Page 27



18

13. Risk Assessment 

13.1 The MTFS contains the most up to date information at the time of drafting but 
the Commissioner’s financial position is dynamic.  A comprehensive financial 
risk assessment is undertaken for the revenue and capital budget setting 
process to ensure all risks and uncertainties affecting the Commissioner’s 
financial position are identified.  The Commissioner faces a number of 
significant financial pressures that could affect the position over the medium 
term.  An assessment of the likelihood and impact of each risk and the 
management controls in place are shown in the following table:

Risk Likelihood Impact Risk Management

General Reserve not 
sufficient to cover future 
unexpected costs.

Possible High Reserve strategy to 
maintain balance at a 
minimum of 2% of budget. 

Pay awards and price 
inflation being higher 
than anticipated.

Possible Medium Budget based on best 
information available and 
set at a prudent level.

Capital financing 
charges will be higher 
than forecast.

Unlikely Low Revenue implications are 
considered as part of capital 
planning and any changes 
to variable rates will have 
minimum impact as 100% of 
existing debt is at fixed 
rates.

Interest rates on 
deposits lower than 
anticipated.

Unlikely Low Prudential assumptions on 
likely interest rates are 
incorporated into the MTFS 
and regular review, 
monitoring and reporting of 
interest takes place.

Capital programme is 
understated and funding 
not available to deliver 
plans.

Unlikely Low Capital monitoring updates 
are taken quarterly to the 
Commissioner to provide 
assurance in the accuracy 
of forecast and monthly 
monitoring is undertaken by 
the Chief Finance Officer 
and Chief Constable. 
Prudential borrowing gives 
flexibility in financing the 
capital programme.

Page 28



19

Failure to deliver 
planned savings.

Possible High Quarterly revenue 
monitoring updates to the 
Commissioner and monthly 
monitoring undertaken by 
the Chief Finance Officer 
and Chief Constable; 
maintenance of the General 
Reserve balance at 2% of 
budget.

Further reductions in 
funding including 
unfavourable review of 
funding formula.

Possible High Balance on General 
Reserve maintained at 
minimum of 2%; forward 
planning; regular monitoring.

Future Council Tax rises 
limited by 
excessiveness 
principles determined by 
the Government.

Likely Medium Balance on General 
Reserve maintained at 
minimum of 2%; forward 
planning.

Reduction in Council 
Tax collection following 
the introduction of the 
localised Council Tax 
support scheme.

Unlikely Low Balance on General 
Reserve maintained at 
minimum of 2%; forward 
planning; regular monitoring.

Costs associated with 
the outcome of the 
national legal challenge 
to the Police Pension 
Scheme (2015) 
transition arrangements 
are not met centrally by 
the Home Office.

Possible Medium Balance on General 
Reserve maintained at 
minimum of 2%; Insurance 
Reserve maintained at 
£3.0m; close budget 
monitoring; annual review of 
budget and MTFS; existing 
Police Pension Fund 
arrangements require the 
Home Office to balance the 
deficit on the Fund each 
year through a top-up grant.

Not all risks have been 
identified.

Unlikely Medium Comprehensive insurance 
arrangements are in place 
alongside robust risk 
management arrangements; 
balance on General 
Reserve maintained at a 
minimum of 2% of budget.

Page 29



20

14. Conclusion 

14.1 The overall financial context for Northumbria Police remains extremely 
challenging.

14.2 The approach set out in this MTFS will deliver a balanced budget.  It sets out 
how all four years will be financed and general reserves will be maintained at 
an estimated £8.1m and this is greater than the minimum set out in the 
reserve strategy.  The management of this position is achieved through the 
rationalisation of estates, workforce change, a continuation of the 3 Area 
Command structure and operating model and significant non pay savings.

14.3 The MTFS does indicate that a sustainable financial position can be achieved 
over the period 2018/19 to 2021/22 and the Commissioner is fully committed 
to taking the necessary decisions to achieve this outcome.

Page 30



NORTHUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

PANEL MEETING ON 5 FEBRUARY 2018

SUBJECT - PROPOSED PRECEPT FOR 2018/19

REPORT OF THE CLERK TO THE PANEL

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The Panel is asked to consider the Police and Crime Commissioner’s (PCC’s)
proposed precept for 2018/19.

2. Background

2.1 The PCC has provided the attached report setting out her proposed precept for 
policing in Northumbria for 2018/19.

2.2 The Panel must review the proposed precept and make a report to PCC on the 
proposed precept by 8 February 2018.  The report may include recommendations, 
including recommendations as to the precept that should be issued for the financial 
year.

Next steps if there is no veto

2.3 If the Panel decides not to veto the precept then the PCC will:

 have regard to the report referred to in 2.2 above and any recommendations 
made by the Panel;

 respond to the Panel;
 publish the response; and 
 issue the proposed precept or a different precept if this is in accordance with 

the Panel’s recommendation

Next steps if there is a veto

2.4 The Panel can only veto the proposed precept if it has the agreement of at least two 
thirds of the Panel’s members (that is 9 members). 

2.5 If the precept is vetoed by the Panel then the PCC cannot issue the precept and by 
15 February 2018 will:

 have regard to the report;
 respond to the Panel with a revised precept; and 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



 publish the response.

The revised precept must reflect the Panel’s recommendation ie if the Panel states 
that the precept is:

 too high, then the revised precept must be lower; or 
 too low, then the revised precept must be higher.

2.6 By 22 February 2018 the Panel must:

 review the revised precept;
 make a second report to the PCC, accepting or rejecting the revised precept 

(rejection does not prevent the PCC from issuing the revised precept);
 make recommendations, including recommendations as to the precept that 

should be issued.

Failure to report by this date will end the scrutiny process and the PCC may 
issue the revised precept.

2.7 By 1 March 2018 the PCC shall:

 have regard to the second report, including any recommendations;
 give the Panel a response to the second report; and
 publish the response.

2.8 The PCC may now issue the revised precept or a different precept. The different 
precept must still be higher or lower than the vetoed precept as detailed above, 
unless the second report recommends a different level of precept.

3. Recommendation

3.1 The Panel is asked to 

(i) consider the PCC’s proposed precept; and 

(ii) decide whether it wishes to accept or reject the proposed precept and 
whether it wishes to make any recommendations in its report to the PCC.

Page 32



1

Police and Crime Panel for Northumbria     05 FEBRUARY 2018

Report of Police and Crime Commissioner for Northumbria

Report on Proposed Precept for 2018/19

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 This report sets out my proposed Council Tax Precept for the policing area 
covered by the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Northumbria for the 
2018/19 financial year, with a recommendation to agree to the proposal.

2. Background

2.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 Schedule 5 states that 
“A Police and Crime Commissioner may not issue a precept under section 40 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for a financial year until the end of 
the scrutiny process is reached.”  The first stage of the scrutiny process is that 
I must notify you of the precept I am proposing to issue for the financial year 
2018/19.

2.2 The Council Tax Precept is a key source of revenue for my organisation: 

0.00

50.00

100.00

150.00

200.00

250.00

Most Similar
Group
HIGHEST

3rd Highest

AVERAGE

2nd Lowest

LOWEST -
Northumbria

Police Precept 2017/18 - Band D Charge
(England and Wales, excludes MOPAC)

£98.33

NO
RT

HU
M

B
RI

A

AV
ER

AG
E 

E&
W £116.55

£182.90

£249.21
£228.84£224.57

Page 33



2

 The Northumbria Band D precept charge of £98.33 is the lowest of any 
PCC in England and Wales by a very long way.

 The next lowest PCC precept is West Midlands at £116.55.

 The average precept is £182.90 and the highest is £249.21.

 The Council Tax Precept raised over £37.5m in 2017/18 - equivalent to 
750 police officers.

 Approximately 14% of our core resource funding in 2017/18, was derived 
from Council Tax and that percentage is increasing year on year as our 
core funding from Central Government is cut or maintained in flat cash 
terms.

3. The Budget and Settlement
 
3.1 The Home Office provisional 2018/19 settlement confirmed that government 

grants would be maintained in flat cash terms against the level received in 
2017/18.  This is a real terms cut to police funding from Central Government.

3.2 Northumbria has already taken the biggest financial cut of all Forces in 
England and Wales through both the 2010 and 2015 Comprehensive 
Spending Review (CSR) periods.  Central Government formula funding for 
policing in Northumbria has been reduced by 37% in real terms since 2010.
 

3.3 The precept excessiveness rules for 2018/19 give ALL Police and Crime 
Commissioners the flexibility to increase the precept by £12 per Band D 
property.

3.4 The Government has calculated that each PCC who uses this flexibility will be 
able to increase their direct resource funding by at least 1.6%, which 
maintains total funding (central grant plus council tax precept) in real terms.

3.5 The Council Tax Precept raised £37.5m towards the total funding requirement 
for the PCC in 2017/18.

3.6 The Government has recognised that the local precept is a rich seam that it 
can use to make further real terms cuts to our funding whilst claiming that the 
funding for Policing is being protected, and the 2018/19 settlement continues 
to demonstrate this.

3.7 The current financial climate remains a difficult and challenging one.  The last 
8 years have seen unprecedented cuts to the funding provided by the 
Government to Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) in England and 
Wales.  Northumbria has had to make £135.6m of cuts and efficiencies to 
manage the reductions imposed by government over that period.  In addition, 
it has had its ability to raise additional tax revenue from the precept restricted 
by the excessiveness rules and a climate of Council Tax freeze grant 
incentives.

3.8 The severe restrictions on funding from Central Government are being 
delivered with the continued expectation that the shortfall is met locally by tax 
payers through the precept.  Local precept income is therefore essential to 

Page 34



3

maintain spending power and preserve the high standards of policing that we 
have in Northumbria.

3.9 The attached report at Appendix 1 sets out the proposed revenue budget and 
capital programme for 2018/19 including my precept proposal, together with a 
review of the current year’s budget position and future funding, and is fully 
aligned with the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 2021/22.

4. Precept Options

4.1 There are no Council Tax Freeze grants available for 2018/19.

4.2 The funding available through the maximum permissible precept increase of 
£12 on the tax base would provide an additional £5.2m in 2018/19.  It would 
also increase the underlying precept base and would therefore provide 
continued financial benefit in future years. 

4.3 For context, an increase of £12 per year for a Band D property equates to 
approximately 23 pence per week.  For a large proportion of the residents in 
Northumbria, those in a Band A property, the actual increase will be 
approximately 15 pence per week (£8.00 per year).

4.4 Following the announcement by the government on Northumbria’s funding 
settlement, I launched a consultation with the public on the precept.  A press 
release was issued to all local media for publication. The article was featured 
in newspapers such as the Northumberland Gazette, Shields Gazette and the 
Evening Chronicle.

4.5 Use of social media ensured that 11,000 people saw a tweet relating to the 
Police precept, with it also being mentioned on BBC twitter accounts such as 
Richard Moss of the North East politics show.  2,900 people were reached on 
Facebook.

4.6 Information and a direct invitation to comment were shared with Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) contact lists.  These lists include the 
advisory groups and scrutiny panels and other interested stakeholders.  There 
are over 1,000 contacts on the lists held.

4.7 Staff from the OPCC visited shopping areas across the Force area to find out 
local views on the precept.  Of the responses received directly by my office, 
70% were supportive of the proposed precept. 

4.8 The Public Insight team at Northumbria Police also surveyed over 600 people 
(100 in each local authority) to find out their thoughts on the Police precept.  
This contact took place in January, from 686 participants surveyed, four out of 
five people (80%) surveyed across the Force area are supportive of an 
increase in Council Tax, to maintain current levels of policing.  Just over 12% 
were unsupportive, whilst 8% did not know either way. 

4.9 The responses show that Northumbria Police is held in high regard by many 
residents.  There is clearly a sense of pride in our local policing service and it 

Page 35



4

is clear that people want to ensure the services of the police are available if 
they ever need them.  Comments made by respondents include: 

 I think it is a good thing, as people on their own need the police.  They rely 
on them.

 I think the police is so important and everyone should pay more.

 It's a sign of the times, this is a service we need.

 I think it is important to keep the standard we have today.

 It's a small amount to pay for the police to protect us.

4.10 I have considered the options available to me and have taken into 
consideration the consultation feedback.  However, my primary consideration 
is to ensure the effective delivery of the Police and Crime Plan, protecting 
communities and the most vulnerable, and maintaining the provision of 
neighbourhood based policing services as far as possible.  I believe it is the 
right decision to recommend an increase in the precept of £12 per year per 
Band D household, to continue to support local policing services in the face of 
continued real terms reductions to Government funding.  Even with this 
proposed increase, Northumbria still has the lowest police precept in England 
and Wales by a very long way.

5  Proposals

5.10 I propose that the precept is increased by £12 per year, which equates to 
approximately 23 pence per week for the average Band D household.

5.11 The impact of this decision in 2018/19 will allow for an additional and recurring 
£5.2m contribution to resources.

5.12 This proposal is made in the context of the budget needed to maintain my 
spending power and balance reducing resources, with essential expenditure 
to deliver the Police and Crime Plan.

6. Recommendation

The Police and Crime Panel is asked to: 
I. Review the recommended precept proposal.

II. Make a report to the Commissioner on the proposed precept for the 
forthcoming financial year.

Page 36



1

APPENDIX 1

Proposed Council Tax and Revenue & Capital Budgets 2018/19

1. Summary of Proposed Council Tax and Revenue & Capital Budgets 2018/19:

 A proposed revenue budget of £266.245m for policing and crime reduction that 
includes.

 Provision for increases in pay and prices of £7.5m; and budget pressures of 
£2.9m.

 A net increase in revenue costs of £0.1m to support capital investment.

 Budget savings of £6.7m in 2018/19.

 Capital investment in buildings, vehicles and new technology of £15.177m.

 Agree an increase of £12 on the Council Tax Precept in 2018/19 to raise an 
additional £5.204m income.

Considerations

2. In preparing the Revenue and Capital Budgets for 2018/19 the Commissioner has 
considered the following issues:

 The key principles underlying the 4 year MTFS 2018/19 to 2021/22.

 The provisional Police Grant settlement for 2018/19.

 The likely revenue and capital outturn for 2017/18.

 The budget pressures in 2018/19.

 Delivery of the Police and Crime Plan.

 Budget savings.

 The options for the Council Tax Precept.

 Reserves.

 Risk assessment.

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.

Financial Strategy

3. The 2018/19 budget is part of the four year Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

4. The overall financial strategy seeks to deliver the Commissioner’s Police and Crime 
Plan, support ‘Proud to Protect’, the mission, vision and values of Northumbria Police 
and meet the requirements of the National Strategic Policing Requirement.

5. It sets out the service developments, response to changes in crime and demand and 
how it will work in partnership with other agencies to maximise effectiveness. 

6. Underpinning the 2018/19 budget and MTFS is a workforce strategy that includes 
recruitment, training and development of officers and police staff whilst continuing to 
manage planned change through the prudent use of reserves.

Page 37



2

Police Finance Settlement 

7. The provisional police grant settlement was published on 19 December 2017 for 
consultation. The final figures will be published in February 2018 and are not expected 
to differ.

 
8. The key headlines from the settlement are:

 Flat cash settlement for Police Formula Grant – the 2018/19 grant from central 
government will be maintained in flat cash terms against 2017/18.

 Council Tax Referendum Limits - ALL Police and Crime Commissioners have 
been granted the flexibility to increase the precept by £12 per Band D property.

 The Government has calculated that each PCC who uses this flexibility will be 
able to increase their direct resource funding by at least 1.6%, which maintains 
total funding (central grant plus Council Tax Precept) in real terms.

 Legacy grants relating to Council Tax and freeze grants retained and payable 
but there will be no new Council Tax freeze grant offered for 2018/19.

 Police capital grant maintained in flat cash terms.

Revenue 

9. Police Grant - The one year provisional settlement announcement confirmed that 
government grants would be maintained in flat cash terms against the level received in 
2017/18. This is a real terms cut to police funding from central government.

 
10. Budget Pressures - including pay and price increases total £10.5m in 2018/19. 

11. Budget Savings - Plans to make £6.7m savings from:

 Continued rationalisation of the operational estate, including maximising 
collaborative opportunities.

 A workforce plan which continues to manage reductions whilst aligning 
resources with changing demand.

 Non pay savings through centralised budget management.

 Maximising income generation wherever possible, notwithstanding such 
opportunities being limited within the Police world.

12. Council Tax Precept - The Governments excessiveness rules for 2018/19 mean that 
all Police and Crime Commissioners have the flexibility to increase their precept by up 
to £12. The government has calculated that each PCC who uses this flexibility will be 
able to increase their direct resource funding by at least 1.6%, which maintains funding 
in real terms.  No government Council Tax Freeze grants are available in 2018/19.  The 
£12 increase is an essential income source for the 2018/19 budget and MTFS.

13. Reserves - the general reserve will be reduced to £8.1m in 2018/19 as a result of the 
planned transfer of £1.0m to the workforce management reserve. This level represents 
3% of the net revenue budget which is above the Commissioners approved minimum 
reserves level of 2%. The proposed revenue budget for 2018/19 is within the total 
funding available for the year and therefore no further use of reserves are planned.

Capital

14. Capital expenditure of £15.177m to be financed by a combination of government 
grants, capital receipts and prudential borrowing. 

Page 38



3

Funding Formula

15. The Home Office failed to implement its proposed new funding formula for 2016/17 
after a fundamental error was found in the data it was using for its calculations. During 
2016 the Government re-launched its review of the Police funding formula which 
continued into 2017.

16. In the 2018/19 settlement announcement on 19 December 2017 the Minister for 
Policing and the Fire Service expressed gratitude for the work of the Core Grant 
Distribution Review team.  The Minister further clarified that, in the context of changing 
demand and in order to prioritise funding certainty for 2018/19, the formula review will 
now be revisited at the next Spending Review. Therefore there is no change 
anticipated to the formula used to distribute core grant funding in 2018/19 or 2019/20.

Capital Programme 2017/18 

17. The Commissioner has an approved revised capital budget for 2017/18 of £13.370m. 
The third quarter capital monitoring report outlined a revised capital estimate of 
£10.128m as at 31 December 2017.  The reduction in the revised estimate for the year 
mainly reflects changes in the phasing and timing of capital schemes which will roll 
forward into 2018/19. 

Capital Programme 2018/19
 
18. The following table sets out a summary of the capital programme for 2018/19:

 

19. Key areas to note in the proposed programme are: 

 Major and Minor Building Schemes - Estates refurbishment programme 
based on operational requirements, transition and relocation costs associated 
with the estates rationalisation programme and co-location with partner 
agencies.

 Information Technology - the force have a number of Improvement Schemes 
to deliver change and efficiency through transformation which includes 
considerable investment in IT systems across a number of policing areas. The 
estimates include a significant level of investment in the implementation of the 
National Emergency Services Network (ESN) within Northumbria, the 
Operational Platform Implementation Project, Network Refresh, system 
upgrades and infrastructure changes.

 Vehicles and Equipment - a rolling programme of vehicle replacement and 
material programmes for upgrading equipment including body-worn video.

Page 39



4

Revenue Budget 2017/18

20. The Commissioner’s net revenue budget for 2017/18 is £262.543m. The Quarter 3 
revenue monitoring report shows a projected budget deficit of £1.179m as at 31 
December 2017. 

21. The overall Group forecast represents an overspend of £1.179m. This overspend is 
primarily due to costs incurred in relation to the Northumbria response to the increased 
counter terrorism threat level in 2017, and pay settlements being in excess of the 
budgeted 1.0%.

22. Capital financing savings on interest costs have been achieved in-year mainly due to a 
reduction in planned capital spend and continued beneficial market rates. 

23. The estimated budget deficit will result in an additional transfer from the 
Commissioner’s general reserve in 2017/18:

Revenue Budget 2018/19

24. For the financial year 2018/19, the proposed total net revenue budget is £266.245m.

25. The proposed budget includes £7.5m in relation to pay and price increases including 
an estimated 2% pay award for officers and staff; provision for police officer pay 
progression under regulations, increased insurance costs, known contract increases  
and other inflation costs associated with rates, rents, utilities and force contracts.Page 40



5

26. Budget pressures of £2.9m have also been incorporated which include ICT revenue 
costs associated with capital schemes, known operational budget pressures, 
investment in workforce training, and other pressures.

Budget Savings

27. Force budget savings in 2018/19 of £6.7m have been identified including £2.9m of non-
pay savings and £3.8m relating to workforce change.

Budget Summary - 2018/19 
 
28. A summary of the proposed 2018/19 Revenue Budget is set out below:

29. The budget for the Chief Constable provides for all the day to day operational policing. 
The budget for the Police and Crime Commissioner primarily includes the OPCC 
running costs and the Commissioner’s Fund. The Capital Financing budget comprises 
the revenue provision for repayment of borrowing, interest costs and investment 
income.

Council Tax Options 

30. The Localism Act 2011 introduced a power for the Secretary of State for Communities 
and Local Government to issue principles that define what should be considered 
excessive Council Tax, including proposed limits. From 2013 onwards, any PCC that 
wishes to raise its Council Tax above the limits that apply to them will have to hold a 
referendum.

31. The excessiveness limit for 2018/19 is £12 per Band D property. The Government has 
calculated that each PCC who uses this flexibility will be able to increase their direct 
resource funding by at least 1.6%, which maintains total funding (central grant plus 
Council Tax Precept) in real terms. 

32. The 2018/19 police grant settlement assumes that PCCs in England increase their 
precept to the maximum referendum limit in 2018/19 and that tax base growth is 1.34% 
across England and Wales. The Home Office stated that for Northumbria this would 
generate additional precept income of £5.1m.

33. During 2017/18 the Council Tax base in the Northumbria force area increased by an 
average 1.49% to 387,220 (Band D equivalent).

34. The proposal is to increase the Band D precept by £12 p/year to raise an additional 
£5.204m over 2018/19. 

Page 41



6

35. The anticipated receipts of £42.722m from the precept are included in the MTFS that 
sets out the main assumptions and provides further detail to demonstrate that this 
decision provides affordability over the medium term.

36. In addition all six billing authorities will pay a collection fund surplus in 2018/19 which 
will deliver a total of £0.899m.

Reserves

37. The Commissioner’s reserves policy is set out in the MTFS and is subject to regular 
review.

38. A full analysis of the Commissioner’s revenue reserves and their planned use in 
2018/19 taking into account the proposals outlined is set out below.

39. The MTFS sets out the Commissioner’s reserves strategy which is to maintain the 
general reserve at a minimum of 2% of the net revenue budget for the year. As at 31 
March 2019 the balance is estimated to be £8.1m which equates to 3.0%.  

Adequacy of Reserves and Robustness of Budget Estimates

40. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Joint Chief Finance Officer to undertake 
an assessment of the robustness of the budget estimates and the adequacy of 
reserves.  

 
41. The budget and MTFS allows the Commissioner to consider the prudent use of 

reserves in the context of the future spending pressures and risks arising from 
potential changes to the funding formula without having a detrimental effect on 
policing.  

42. In assessing the robustness of the budget, the Joint Chief Finance Officer has 
considered the following issues:

 The general financial standing of the Police and Crime Commissioner.

 The underlying budget assumptions, including an assessment of the estimates 
for pay and price increases.

 A risk assessment of expenditure and income estimates.

 The future budget pressures identified in the MTFS.

 The adequacy of the budget monitoring and financial reporting arrangements.

 The adequacy of the Commissioner’s governance arrangements and internal 
control system.

Page 42



7

 The adequacy of general reserves to cover any potential financial risks faced by 
the Commissioner.

 The impact of funding cuts and the uncertainty around the levels of grant 
support beyond 2018/19.

43. At 31 March 2018, the Commissioner’s General Reserve is estimated at £9.1m (3.5% 
of revenue expenditure), in addition to other reserves which are earmarked for specific 
purposes.  The Commissioner’s reserves policy will result in a General Reserve of 
£8.2m (3.0% of revenue expenditure) by the end of 2021/22.  In estimating the level of 
reserves the Joint Chief Finance Officer has taken account of known commitments and 
the financial risks faced by the Commissioner which could impact on the level of 
reserves over the MTFS period.

44. The Joint Chief Finance Officer confirms that, after taking account of these issues, the 
revenue and capital estimates contained in this report are considered robust and that 
the level of reserves proposed in the review set out earlier is considered adequate to 
cover the financial risks faced by the Commissioner in 2018/19.

Council Tax Requirement

45. The Localism Act requires the Commissioner to set a Council Tax Requirement.  The 
calculation of the Council Tax Requirement, based on the proposed revenue budget 
and contribution from reserves is set out below:

£m £m

Total Revenue Expenditure 266.245

Less:Appropriations from Reserves 0.000
Budget Requirement 266.245

Less:
Police Grant 108.588
Ex-DCLG Grant 105.868
Localised Council Tax Support Grant 6.867
Council Tax Freeze Grant 11/12 0.912
Council Tax Freeze Grant 14/15 0.389 222.624

Balance to be raised locally 43.621
Less:Estimated net surplus on collection funds 0.899

Council Tax Requirement 42.722

46. The proportion of collection funds’ net surplus due to Northumbria Police from its 
constituent billing authorities is £0.899m for 2018/19 (£0.872m in 2017/18).  

 
47. The notified Council Tax base figure is 387,220 which is an increase of 5,673 over the 

previous year (1.49%).

Page 43



8

The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities

48. The CIPFA Prudential Code is a professional code of practice to support local 
authorities in taking decisions relating to capital investment in fixed assets.  Local 
authorities, including Police and Crime Commissioners and Fire Authorities, are 
required to have regard to the Code under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003.  
The basic principle of the system is that local authorities will be free to invest so long 
as their capital spending plans are affordable, sustainable and prudent.

49. In order to demonstrate that they have fulfilled the objectives of the Code, authorities 
must produce a range of key Prudential Indicators.  The Code does not suggest 
indicative limits or ratios for these indicators, which are designed to support and record 
local decision making, and are not intended to be used for comparative purposes.

50. These key indicators can be split into two broad categories, affordability indicators and 
prudence indicators.  Affordability indicators concentrate upon the level of capital 
investment over the period 2018/19 to 2021/22.  Prudential indicators concentrate on 
the level and composition of external debt, and are therefore very closely linked to the 
Commissioner’s Treasury Management Strategy.

51. The Commissioner’s proposed Prudential Indicators are shown at Annex A to this 
report.

Minimum Revenue Provision

52. Regulations came into effect from March 2008 with regard to preparing an Annual 
MRP Statement. MRP is the amount that needs to be set aside to reflect the 
depreciation of capital assets. There are no proposed changes to the method used to 
calculate MRP and the Annual MRP statement for 2018/19 is attached at Annex B.

Financial Considerations

53. Financial implications are considered throughout the report.

Risk Management

54. Associated risks have been considered and recorded as appropriate and are set out in 
Annex C

Recommendations (Proposed)

55. The Commissioner is requested to: 
I. Approve the capital programme and authorise the Joint Chief Finance Officer 

(Treasurer) to undertake the appropriate financing.
II. Approve the revenue budget.

III. Agree the review of the reserves policy.
IV. Note the recommendations of the Joint Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer) in 

respect of the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves. 

56. Note the Council Tax Base of 387,220 for the year 2018/19 as notified by the billing 
authorities within Tyne and Wear and Northumberland (item T in the formula in Section 
42B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended). 

Page 44



9

57. Approve the following amounts for the year 2018/19 in accordance with Sections 42A, 
42B and 45 to 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended:

(a) £279.028m  Being the aggregate of the amounts which the 
Police and Crime Commissioner estimates for 
the items set out in Section 42A (2) (a) to (d) of 
the Act.

(b) £236.306m  Being the aggregate of the amounts which the 
Police and Crime Commissioner estimates for 
the items set out in Section 42A (3) (a) to (b) 
adjusted for the item set out in S42A (10) of the 
Act.

(c) £42.722m  Being the amount by which the aggregate at (a)  
above exceeds the aggregate at (b) above,  
calculated by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner in accordance with Section 42A  
(4) of the Act, as it's Council Tax Requirement  
for the year (item R in the formula is Section 42B 
of the Act).

(d) £110.33  Being the amount at (c) above (item R) divided 
by the amount noted in Recommendation 2 
above (item T), calculated by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner in accordance with Section 
42B (1) of the Act, as the basic amount of it's 
Council Tax for the year.

(e) Valuation bands
    
 A £73.55
 B £85.81
 C £98.07
 D £110.33
 E £134.85
 F £159.37
 G £183.88
 H £220.66

Being the amounts given by multiplying the 
amount of (d) above by the number which, in the 
proportion set out in Section 5 (1) of the Act, is 
applicable to dwellings listed in a particular 
valuation band divided by the number which in 
that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in 
valuation band D, calculated by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner in accordance with Section 
47 (1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into 
account for the year in respect of the categories 
of dwelling listed in different valuation bands.

58. Resolve that under Section 52ZB of the Local Government Finance Act, the 
Commissioner’s relevant basic amount of Council Tax for 2018/19 is not excessive in 
accordance with the principles determined under Section 52ZC (1) of the Act for 
2018/19. 

59. Resolve that in accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, as amended, the billing authorities within the area of this authority be issued with 
precepts in the amount of £42,721,994 for the financial year beginning 1 April 2018, 
the amount of the retrospective precepts to be issued to each billing authority’s area in 
accordance with the Sections 42A, 42B and 45 to 48 of the 1992 Act, as amended. 

60. Approve the Prudential Indicators as outlined in Annex A to this report. 

Page 45



10

61. Accept the recommendation of the Joint Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer) for the 
method of calculating MRP for 2018/19 as set out in the Annual MRP statement at 
Annex B to this report. 

 

Page 46



11

ANNEX A

Prudential Indicators

In line with the requirements of the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance, the 
various indicators that inform whether capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable, are set out below.

Authorised Limit for External Debt 

There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised 
Limit’.   Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in the budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with approved 
treasury management policy statement and practices. 

Authorised Limit - this represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited. It 
reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short 
term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.

Operational Boundary - this is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally 
expected to exceed. In most cases this would be a similar figure to the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR), but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt.

The key difference between the two limits is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached 
without prior approval of the PCC. It therefore includes more headroom to take account of 
eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to take 
advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing, 
“invest to save” projects, occasional short term borrowing to cover temporary revenue 
cash flow shortfalls, as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash flows. 
The Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position.

Authorised Limit for External Debt

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22 
£000

Borrowing 170,000 180,000 180,000 180,000
Other Long Term Liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total 170,000 180,000 180,000 180,000

Operational Boundary for External Debt

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

Borrowing     145,000  155,000 155,000 155,000
Other Long Term Liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total 145,000 155,000 155,000 155,000

The latest forecast for external debt indicates that it will be within both the authorised 
borrowing limit and the operational boundary set to 2021/22. The maturity structure of debt 
is within the indicators set.

Upper Limit on Fixed and Variable Interest Rates Exposures

Following a statement issued by the CIPFA Treasury and Capital Management Panel, 
providing clarification on the changes applied by CIPFA to treasury management indicators 
for 2018/19, the interest rate exposure indicators are no longer required. The Police and 
Crime Commissioner’s Treasury Management Strategy will be required to state how 
interest rate exposure is managed and monitored. CIPFA anticipate that from 2018/19 

Page 47



12

each local authority / Police and Crime Commissioner will ‘use their own methods to 
quantify interest rate exposure’.

Upper and Lower Limits for the Maturity Structure of Borrowing

The upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of borrowing are calculated to provide 
a framework within which the Commissioner can manage the maturity of new and existing 
borrowing to ensure that debt repayments are affordable in coming years.

Maturity structure of borrowing – these gross limits are set to reduce the 
Commissioner’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are 
required for upper and lower limits.

Upper and Lower Limits for the Maturity Structure of Borrowing

Following the changes in guidance issued by CIPFA the maturity structure of borrowing is 
required to cover variable as well as fixed rate debt. The maturity structure of borrowing set 
out below applies to all borrowing by the Police and Crime Commissioner, both fixed and 
variable.

Upper Limit Lower Limit
Under 12 months          70%          0%
12 months and within 24 months 60% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 60% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 65% 0%
10 years and above 90% 0%

Upper Limit on Principal Amounts Invested Beyond 365 Days

The purpose of the upper limit on principal amounts invested beyond 365 days is for the 
Commissioner to contain the exposure to the possibility of loss that might arise as a result 
of having to seek early repayment or redemption of principal sums invested.

Upper Limit on Principal Amounts Invested Beyond 365 Days

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

Investments 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

Page 48



13

Gross Debt and Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

In order to ensure that over the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose, the 
Police and Crime Commissioner should ensure that debt does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of capital financing in the previous year plus the estimates of any 
additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.

If in any of these years there is a reduction in the capital financing requirement, this 
reduction is ignored in estimating the cumulative increase in the capital financing 
requirement which is used for comparison with external debt.

This is a key indicator of prudence. Where the gross debt is greater than the capital 
financing requirement the reasons for this should be clearly stated in the annual treasury 
management strategy.

Gross Debt and CFR 2018/19 
£000

2019/20 
£000

2020/21 
£000

2021/22 
£000

Forecast Borrowing as at 31 
March 94,446 104,139 102,869 105,970

Capital Financing 
Requirement as at 31 March 103,189 112,207 110,300 114,395

Amount of borrowing (over) / 
under CFR 8,743 8,068 7,431 8,425

Forecast borrowing is within the CFR estimates for 2018/19 to 2021/22.

Affordability

The impact of the capital programme on the revenue budget is shown in the table below:

Affordability 2018/19 
£000

2019/20 
£000

2020/21 
£000

2021/22 
£000

Revenue Budget

Capital Expenditure

266,425

  15,177

270,400

22,434

      273,000

        10,991

275,400

12,223

Capital Financing 
Requirement as at 31 March 103,189 112,207 110,300 114,395

Interest Cost 3,020 3,453 3,442 3,498

Minimum Revenue Provision 4,555 5,280 6,264 6,152

Revenue Financing Costs 7,575 8,733 9,706 9,650

Ratio of financing cost to 
revenue stream % 2.84% 3.23% 3.56% 3.50%

Page 49



14

ANNEX B

Police and Crime Commissioner for Northumbria Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Statement 2018/19

The MRP charge for 2018/19 for capital expenditure incurred before 01 April 2008 (prior to the 
new regulations) or which has subsequently been financed by supported borrowing will be 
based on the previous regulatory method of Capital Financing Requirement at a minimum of 
4% of the opening balance less prescribed adjustments.

For all unsupported borrowing, exercised under the Prudential Code, the MRP Policy is based 
on the Asset Life Method. The minimum revenue provision will be at equal annual instalments 
over the life of the asset. The first charge will not be made until the year after the asset 
becomes operational.

The estates rationalisation programme will see the sale of some £21.4m of assets over the 
period of the MTFS. The receipts will be used to finance capital expenditure and reduce the 
overall capital financing requirement.

Page 50



15

ANNEX C

NORTHUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FINANCIAL RISK ANALYSIS 

General Balances 

The risk is that the General Reserve balance is not sufficient. This is mitigated by: 

 The General Reserve will be kept at a minimum of 2% of revenue expenditure.

 The projected balance on the General Reserve at the 1 April 2018 of £9.1m is 3.5% of 
the revenue expenditure budget.

 The projected balance on the General Reserve at the 1 April 2019 of £8.1m is 3.0% of 
the revenue expenditure budget.

 Strong financial controls have resulted in a consistent trend of the revenue outturn 
being delivered within budget in recent years. 

Pay Increases 

The risk is that pay increases may exceed the levels provided for within the budget. Estimates 
for future pay awards have been fully included. 

Price Increases 

The risk is that price increases may exceed the levels provided for within the budget. This is 
mitigated by applying inflation on an individual basis to provide for contractual commitments 
and premises related expenditure. All other inflation will be managed within existing budgets 
reflecting the current economic climate. The risk that prices may rise is mitigated by budget 
monitoring arrangements and the Force's current approach to efficiency in challenging and 
managing spend pressures. 

Capital Financing 

The risk is that Capital Financing Charges will be greater than budgeted. This is mitigated by: 

 Revenue implications are considered as part of the capital planning process and taken 
in to account in the MTFS.

 Advice is taken from the Commissioner’s external treasury management advisers Link 
Asset Services (LAS) in relation to revenue estimates for borrowing and investment 
interest.

 The principal repayment in respect of debt is the MRP, calculated on an asset by asset 
basis as part of the capital planning process. Any change in interest rates will not have 
an effect as 100% of debt is at fixed rates and any refinancing of existing debt will only 
take place if it will lead to a long term saving in interest charges. 

Financial Planning 

The risk is that a major liability or commitment is currently known but has not been taken into 
account in the Police and Crime Commissioner’s financial planning. This is mitigated by: 

 The Medium Term Financial Strategy includes an assessment of spending pressures, 
to be assessed for inclusion in the Commissioner’s budget, identified by the Chief 
Constable by reference amongst other sources to the Local Policing Plan.

 In addition, regular liaison by senior officers of the Force and the Commissioner’s 
Office help to strengthen and coordinate the financial planning of the Commissioner.

Page 51



16

Savings 

Budget savings of £6.9m have been included in the revenue budget for 2018/19. The risk is 
that the budget savings will not be delivered. This is mitigated by: 

 The strong record of delivering the budget within targets.

 Robust monitoring process for budget management throughout the year.

 Adequacy of the General Reserve and the overall reserves policy. 

Loss of Deposit 

The risk is that funds deposited by the Commissioner are lost due to the collapse of the 
financial institution with whom the deposit is placed. The risk is limited by the controls in the 
Treasury Management Strategy which focuses on control of deposits rather than returns. The 
potential impact is limited by the strategy of a diverse portfolio with top rated institutions which 
are either part nationalised or have credit guarantees.

Interest Rates on Deposits 

The risk is that interest rates will be lower than expected and prudent assumptions on likely 
interest rates for 2018/19 have been incorporated into the budget. Advice has been taken 
from the Commissioner’s external treasury management advisers Link Asset Services (LAS) 
on appropriate budget rates for borrowing and investment interest.

Budgetary Control 

The risk is that the budget will overspend. This is mitigated by: 

 Monthly budget monitoring in place.

 Quarterly monitoring reports to the Commissioner.

Council Tax 

The risk following the localisation of Council Tax support is that collection rates could be 
affected which would impact on billing authorities’ collection fund balances and any surpluses 
payable to the Commissioner. To mitigate this risk, local billing authorities have factored in 
prudent collection rates. 

Capital Programme Implications 

The risk is that the capital programme may be understated, funding will not be available as 
planned or that over spending may occur. This is mitigated by: 

 Regular review of Estates Strategy and the decision to focus on key priority schemes 
only; together with quarterly updates of progress will provide assurance in the 
accuracy of forecasts.

 Quarterly capital monitoring reports to the Commissioner.

Risk Management 

The risk is that all risks have not been identified when the budget has been set and that major 
financial consequences may result. This is mitigated by:

 Risk management arrangements.

 Comprehensive self and external insurance arrangements in place.

 Adequacy of the insurance reserve.

 Adequacy of the general balances and the overall reserves policy.
Page 52


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19-2021/22
	4 Proposed Precept 2018/19
	Item 04 - Report on Proposed Precept for 2018-19
	Item 04 - Appendix 1


